## Reducing stigma of criminal insanity

Andrew Axer, Robert C. Beckett, Jennifer Jones

## Summary

**Aim**. Analysis of phenomena and possible factors influencing public opposition to the program of Residential Secure Treatment Facility for criminally insane patients.

Method. Review of the minutes of meeting with neighbours and officials.

۲

**Results**. Study of the 31 statements revealed different aspects of prejudices and negative emotional reactions. Contacts between members of community and residents evidently improve the relations. **Conclusions**. The authors conclude that the implementation the Good Neighbor Agreement and encouraging direct contact between neighbours and patients both reduced to some degree the public stigma of criminal insanity.

stigma / criminal insanity / conditional release

#### INTRODUCTION

 $( \mathbf{\Phi} )$ 

In this article, we present a case study of strong public opposition to the newly developed Residential Secure Treatment Facility for the Criminally Insane Patients in Milwaukie, Oregon. We review and categorise the probable reasons for anger and fear expressed by neighbours prior to the opening of the program. We also describe the strategy that seemed to be effective in reducing stigma of criminal insanity.

Oregon's System for managing individuals placed under the jurisdiction of the psychiatric security review board

In 1977, the Oregon Legislature created the Psychiatric Security Review Board (PSRB), a five member Board charged with the responsibility of managing and monitoring mentally ill persons who have committed a crime and have been found by the courts to be "guilty except for insanity." The key task of the PSRB is to determine the eligibility of patients for conditional release from the state hospital when they are no longer posing a danger to society. Another important task of the PSRB is to match the individuals under its jurisdiction with the proper level of support and supervision in the community [1]. In April of 2008, the Governor's Office appointed The PSRB Siting Workgroup which confirmed that 1) the lack of consistent guidelines for siting and operating Secure Residential Treatment Facilities contributes to the mistrust among all parties involved; 2) that a relatively low risk presented by the individuals under the supervision of the PSRB seems to be in conflict with the public perception. Not surprisingly, the final report emphasised the need for greater education and support of advocacy organisations in combating stigma and providing credible information about the PSRB system to all key stakeholders [2].

Distinguishing between discriminatory reactions and other concerns

On November 11, 2008, the large meeting of the Johnson Creek Neighborhood Association, with 118 persons in attendance, was devoted almost entirely to the development of the new

Andrew Axer<sup>1</sup>, Robert C. Beckett<sup>2</sup>, Jennifer Jones<sup>3</sup>: <sup>1</sup>Johnson Creek Secure Treatment Facility, Columbia Care Services, Inc. 2808 SE Balfour Street Milwaukie, OR 97222; <sup>2</sup>Columbia Care Services, Inc. 2015 NW 507 Flanders St., Portland, Oregon 97209 USA; <sup>3</sup>Office 3587 Heathrow Way Medford, OR 97504; Correspondence address: Andrew Axer, Columbia Care Services, Inc.; 2015 NW 507 Flanders St., Portland, Oregon 97209 USA. E-mail: haxer0812@gmail.com

PSRB facility in the residential area of Milwaukie. Among the participants were neighbours, local law enforcement officers, state, city, and county public officials, state and county mental health representatives, the executive director of the PSRB, as well as several representatives from the media. The meeting lasted almost three hours and the emotional climate was considerably intense. In the aftermath of the meeting, the first and third author reviewed the minutes from the meeting to distinguish between issues which directly reflected public prejudice against the mentally ill from legitimate safety concerns and critical comments voiced against state, county and city governments involved in siting of a new facility. Factual questions with no underlying value statement were excluded from consideration. In three instances, the authors could not agree on the meaning of the statement. The content analysis of the remaining 31 statements revealed than only slightly more than a quarter of them reflected directly public prejudice against persons labeled as "the criminally insane" irrespective of their strong accusatory tone.

The first category includes seven clearly discriminatory statements (27%) resulting from negative emotional reactions toward individuals labeled as "the criminally insane" ("I don't care about the size of the facility, I want to stop it"). The most common sentiment expressed by the public is that it is inappropriate to house "murderers", "rapists" and "arsonists" next to "little children, senior citizens and other vulnerable populations". Responses based on fear of random, unpredictable and therefore the most frightening violence, has been expressed most clearly by one of the neighbours who made a distinction between "mentally ill who we do not mind" and "the criminally insane who we do mind." Another example of discriminatory reaction was the statement suggesting that the undeveloped open areas of Eastern Oregon were better suited for this "unwelcome facility" than "this little town." One must note that such discriminatory avoidance should not be confused with the criticism related to the uneven distribution of treatment facilities across socioeconomically diverse communities.

The second category includes thirteen inquiries, which at least on the surface, are raising legitimate public safety concerns (42%). These inquires pertained to specific security protections, monitoring devices, local police response, supervision of patients during community outings, and county/state oversight and ways to prevent a potential system failure. The company developing the facility was questioned about its experience in operating secure PSRB facilities, data regarding staffratio and credentials of staff, and qualifications of the future facility administrator.

The last category includes eleven items related to the siting process (35%). All statements in this category targeted County and State officials, and indirectly representatives of facility, which were perceived as the parties acting together in the secret collusion. One participant made a sarcastic remark at the end of the meeting: "You shoved it down our throat and now you want to communicate." The public expressed profound dissatisfaction mostly about "shortcuts" and lack of transparency. The members of the neighbourhood association were also concerned about the impact of the siting decision on their property values, disproportionately high distribution of treatment facilities in low-income residential areas, and perceived lack of concern of the state and county officials for the livelihood of socioeconomically troubled communities.

## Direct contact between residents and facility neighbours

As long as even a minimal risk exits, no amount of statistical data showing an extremely low level of recidivism by PSRB patients on conditional releases, or even actual testimonies from individuals who successfully "graduated" from the PSRB system, will be reassuring to a neighbour who is convinced that it would take just a single escapee from the facility to kill him and his family. The research on strategies to reduce stigma suggests that the benefits of education may not be lasting and the positive change in attitudes may not be reflected in change of actual behaviour toward concrete individuals [3, 4]. Keeping this in mind, in September 2009, the new facility signed The Good Neighbor Agreement with representatives of the Johnson Creek Community, Local Law Enforcement and NAMI to provide foundation for ongoing problem-solving efforts, fostering the spirit of

Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 2010; 3:69-71

mutual collaboration, and addressing safety/security concerns.

We anticipated that stigma would be diminished if the neighbours were given a real life experience communicating with patients who are coherent and able to describe how they could use the rehabilitation program to achieve their personal goals. One such opportunity came quite unexpectedly when the neighbour from across the street expressed concern after seeing residents during supervised morning walks, which in his mind were supposed to be an occasional earned privilege. The Facility Administrator explained to him that this was part of the daily exercise routine and offered the neighbour the opportunity to meet in a visiting room with a few residents. The neighbour shared with them the story of his hyperactive son who was afraid of the facility. The residents openly acknowledged they would also be afraid of people with their past but also stressed how much they have changed. A female resident offered to meet the neighbour's son one day when she would have her own children visiting in the facility. They both agreed that this would be great idea.

The first formal opportunity for direct contact between members of the community and residents of Johnson Creek took place during the initial "Good Neighbor Agreement" meeting (with four neighbours, six residents, Chief of City Police and County Case Manager in attendance) took place six weeks after the opening of the facility in February of 2010. Originally, it was not planned to include patients but all sides consented to it. It turned out to be an exceptionally open and mutually respectful exchange. Residents dressed up for the occasion and offered the guests more comfortable seating in the living room. Two residents who cherish their privacy greeted the neighbours, one offered them tea, and then both excused themselves to their bedroom. The rest commented on their past struggles and spoke eloquently about their strong motivation to move forward. One resident shared his perception of the differences between those in prisons and those who are working in the PSRB system. Another person reassured the neighbours that he appreciates the benefits of medications and has every intention to act responsibly. One of the residents described to the neighbours her particular experience with the Symptom Management Module: "I had so much fun role-playing as a therapist explaining what warning signs are that I thought that my stomach would explode."

In general, residents described psychosocial treatment received at the centre, such as the illness self-management and interpersonal problem solving skills modules, as both entertaining and closely aligned with their personal goals [5]. Their direct testimonies convincingly showed the neighbours that people with mental illness can recover, and although not responsible for their chronic disease, they are committed to their own recovery goals. In turn, the neighbours showed genuine interest in the well being of patients. One of the neighbours, who in the past publicly threatened to protect his family with a shotgun, asked the patients if they felt safe in the neighbourhood. He also admitted openly that he would still need to overcome his own prejudice. After the meeting, neighbours and residents continued chatting informally for a moment. The Chief of Police was truly impressed with both sides.

## CONCLUSION

Giving residents a chance to speak coherently and relevantly - in particular, telling true and candid stories of how treatment and rehabilitation has restored them to healthier and more productive lives, initiates the process of overcoming the stereotype that criminal insanity is always unpredictable, senseless and dangerous condition.

## REFERENCES

۲

- Gold A. A Model of Management and Treatment of Insanity Acquittees. Hospital and Community Psychiatry 1991; 45 (11): 1127–1131.
- Psychiatric Security Review Board (PSRB) Siting Work Group. Final Report. 2009.
- Corrigan P, & Watson A. Understanding the Impact of Stigma on People with Mental Illness. World Psychiatry 2002; 1(1): 16–20.
- Penn D, & Couture S. Strategies for Reducing Stigma Persons with Mental Illness. World Psychiatry 2002; 1(1): 20–21.
- Kopelewicz A, Liberman RP, Zarate R. Recent Advances in Social Skills Training for Schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 2006; 32(1): 12–23.

Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 2010; 3:69-71

## Regulations on the papers accepted to "Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy"

#### INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS

Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy accept experimental, clinical, theoretical papers, case reports and studies, which have not been published previously in other publications or considered for publication elsewhere, as well as invited papers. The editors accept also a) letters to the editor, concerning the articles printed in the journal as well as letters on important issues connected with the theme of the journal and, b) book reviews.

The papers should be submitted in 3 copies, printed one sided on the A4 paper size along with the file on a cd-r, dvd, other storage device or sent by e-mail. The submitted paper written in English should not exceed 15 standard pages (1800 signs per page, spacing included), including illustrations and tables.

The first page should contain: the title (very brief, if necessary a subtitle may be used), name(s) of the author(s), their affiliation(s), key words (3-5) and summary up to 100 words. The length of the letters to the editor should not exceed 5 pages of normalised text, whilst the book reviews should not exceed 2 pages. The paper should contain a short introduction, subject or material and methods, results, discussion, conclusions and references (not necessary in case reports). The address of the author to whom correspondence should be sent, telephone and fax number, (and e-mail address, if possible) should be given at the end of the paper. The authors are obliged to mention if they have been aided by any grant in their research. The information on this should be placed in the footnote on the first page of the paper.

The papers will be reviewed by at least two reviewers. Reviews will be sent to the author nominated for correspondence. The corrected paper should be sent back to the editor (for language edition) in one single copy together with the disk. The edited text will be forwarded again to the authors for proof-reading and acceptance before further processing.

The paper should be typed out in MS Word for Windows. The font should be Times New Roman 12, double-spaced; minimum margins: left 3.5 cm, right 1 cm, top 3.5 cm, bottom 3 cm. Pages should be numbered in the middle of the page heading. Titles and sub-titles should not be written in capital letters. As regards numbers, decimal fractions should be separated from units with a period and not a coma. The text cannot include any special layout tools like double spacing, bold, or capital letters. If the author wishes to distinguish a fragment of the text, the selected words should be underlined with a pencil on the printout: continuous line for the words to be bolded, dashed - for the words to be spaced, sinuous - in case of italics. The layout of the mid-titles and that of the tables is selected by the Editor according to the homogeneous layout of the journal.

The authors are requested to use proper psychiatric vocabulary and international names of medicines (not trade ones). SI abbreviations should be used. Tables and drawings should be attached separately, numbered consecutively and their placement in the text should be clearly indicated.

Tables should be prepared in MS Word for Windows, graphs in MS Excel and drawings in Corel Draw. Tables should be saved on the disk as a separate file, in the format they have been created in.

Drawings and tables should not be wider than 13 cm and should be capable of reduction. Halftone drawings and illustrations should be

Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 2010; 3:69-71

saved as black and white (256 shades of grey) in the EPS or TIFF format, 300 dpi and the size in which they will be printed. Shades of grey or patterns should be used for filling the drawings and graphs. Do not use colour if an illustration is to be reproduced in black and white. High quality printouts of the drawings and tables should be attached to the text. Content of the tables and descriptions of drawings should be written in Arial Narrow 10. The number of tables and drawings should be reduced to minimum. The author must obtain a written permission from the copyright holder of the previously published tables, illustrations and figures.

The authors are requested to cite only necessary references, which are clearly referred to in the text. In the reference list, each item should start in a new line and be numbered according to the appearance in the text. For references with no author term "anonymous" is used.

For papers published in journals the references should preserve the following sequence: surnames of the authors followed by their name initials, title of the article, name of the

 $( \mathbf{\Phi} )$ 

journal (according to Index Medicus), year, volume, pages; **Example**: Kowalski N, Nowak A. Schizophrenia – case study. Psychiatr. Pol. 1919, 33(6): 210–223.

**For books**: surnames of the authors followed by their initials, title of the book, place of publication, publisher, year of publication. **Example**: Kowalski ZG. Psychiatry. Sosnowiec: Press; 1923.

For a chapter of a book: surnames of the authors followed by their name initials, title, In: surnames and name initials of the editor of the book, title, place of publication, publisher, year of publication, pages. Example: Szymański BM. Depressive states. In: Kowalski AM, Głogowski P. eds. Psychiatry Manual, 2nd ed. Krosno: Psyche; 1972. p. 203–248.

Be careful about punctuation (as in examples).

Manuscripts including the results of examination of patients (involving a risk element) must have a copy of the written approval issued by the ethical committee attached.

## PSYCHIATRIA POLSKA

۲

ORGAN POLSKIEGO TOWARZYSTWA PSYCHIATRYCZNEGO ZAŁOŻONY W 1923 R. PRZEZ RAFAŁA RADZIWIŁŁOWICZA POD NAZWĄ "ROCZNIK PSYCHIATRYCZNY"

ROK 2010 LIPIEC-SIERPIEŃ XLIV NR 4

## CONTENT

A proposal of a patient psychiatric treatment and hospitalisation consent form Danuta Hajdukiewicz, Janusz Heitzman475
Incapacity to undertaking the essential marital duties due to causes of psychic nature. The forensic-psychiatric point of view Marian Drogowski
The evolution of the canons law code and the mental nature reasons of marital incapacity during the last 25 years Marian Drogowski
Transcranial direct current stimulation and related techniques in treatment of psychiatric disorders Tomasz Zyss
Caregiving consequences in mental disorders – definitions and instruments of assessment Psychological determinants of quality of life in women diagnosed with depressive disorders Magdalena Michalska-Leśniewicz, Wojciech Gruszczyński
Evaluation of quality of life, anxiety and depression in testicular cancer patients during chemotherapy and after anticancer treatment Maria Osmańska, Alina Borkowska, Roman Makarewicz
Comorbidity of aspirin-induced asthma, panic disorder and depression versus gender and presence of profound psychological traumas Anna Potoczek
Panic disorder and depression influence on the severity of aspirin-induced asthma Anna Potoczek
Prevalence of mental disorders and psychoactive substance use in metropolitan 17-year old youth population Renata Modrzejewska, Jacek Bomba
<b>Specific phobia in early period of puerperium. Case report</b> and its legal aspects Andrzej Kokoszka, Monika Jerominiak-Kobrzyńska, Adriana Kalicka-Owerska, Karol Wypych, Marian Filar

۲

# **PSYCHOTERAPIA**

NR 2 (153) 2010

Index Copernicus 3,96 Liczba punktów MNiSW — 6

## CONTENT

Jacek Filek Asking about the violence
<b>Wojciech Hańbowski</b> Fathers and sons
Jakub Bobrzyński The healing process after trauma
Marek Gajowy, Daniel Mikułowicz, Paweł Sala, Witold Simon Premature termination of group psychotherapy — main characteristics and recommendations for reducin it
<b>Wojciech Hańbowski</b> Psychoanalytical approach in the therapeutic community
Andrzej Korolczuk Group psychotherapy in psychiatric adolescent ward
Wiesław Sikorski Training of non-verbal behaviour of persons after left sided brain stroke

۲

۲

KRAKÓW – LATO 2010

